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-002 

) -003 
Briggs and Stratton Corporation 
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Administrative Law Judge West A 11 is ) 

Milwaukee ) 

IIHTIAL OECISIO!l 

This proceeding concerns three administrative civil penalty actions, 

above-styled, under Section ~~(a) of the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. 

Section 2615(a), hereinafter "TSCA"), consolidated for hearing upon Respondent's 

motion , wh ich were instituted by complaints issued by the Director, Enforcement 

Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region V, Chicago, Illinois . 

Complaint -001 alleges violations of the Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

(hereinafter "PCBs ") disposal and marking r.:egulations (40 CFR 761, 43 FR 7150, 
;, 

February 17, 1978), and charges the Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation, 

wi th violations at its Corporate Service Center on 124th Street in Wauwatosa , 

Wisconsin. This facility, in the record occasionally referred to as the 

Burleigh Plant, will be hereinafter referred to as "Wauwatosa". Complaint 

-001 consists of three counts, charging Respondent with: l) failure to implement 

required safeguards in storing PCBs for disposal, in that subject area used to store 

~CB articles did not (a) have adeq uate roof and walls to prevent rainwater 

from reaching the stored PCB articles , or (b) have adequate fl oor or curbing 

to satisfy 40 CFR 761.42(b)(l)(ii and iv); 2) failure to place required warning 

labels on items containing PCBs in violation of 40 CFR 761.20> a~d 3) failure 

to develop and maintain records on disposition of PCBs as required by 40 CFR 

761.45. The Compl ai nt proposes a civil penalty in the amount of $35 ,000 for 

these violations. 

Complaint -002 alleges violations of the PCB disposal and marking 

regulations at Respondent's foundry operation at 68th Street in West Allis , 
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Wisconsin (which plant will be hereinafter referred to as "West Allis"). in 

three counts, as follows: 1) failure to comply with 40 CFR 761.42 in storing 

PCBs for disposal in violation of 40 CFR 761.10(c)(4); 2) fa ilure to place 

required warning labels on items containing PCBs; and 3) failure to develop 

and maintain records on disposition of PCBs as required by 40 CFR 761.45. Tne 

Complaint proposes a civil penalty in the amount of $35,000 for these violations. 

Complaint -003 alleges violations of the PCB disposal and marking 

regulations at Respondent's West Plant on 132nd Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 

which plant will be hereinafter referred to as "Milwaukee". Complaint -003 

originally consisted of two counts, charging the Respondent with: 1) failure 

-to place required warning labels on an item containing PCBs; and l) failure 

to develop and maintain records on PCB items as required by 40 CFR 761.45. At 

the prehearing conference the Complainant withdrew the first count. On the 

remaining count a penalty of $5 ,000 is proposed. 

Following its First Defense (its answer to the Complaint), Respondent 

pleaded identical affirmative defenses, in each of the three cases, a~leging: 

SECOND: That the Complaint fails to state facts upon which a penalty 

may be assessed since it includes no statement indicating the appropriateness 

of the proposed penalty as required by 40 CFR 22.14(a)(5). 

THIRD: (1) That any violations were inadvertent and temporary ••• and 

the result of oversight by Respondent's employees and C011fusion between 

electrical and environmental employees of Respondent. 

(2) That Respondent has a history of compliance with environ

mental laws and no history of past violations, or charges of such excepting one 

citation for $225 to which Respondent pleaded no contest. (that) Respondent, 

prior to April 1979, substituted non-PCB fluid in all its die cast machines and 

instituted PCB disposal tracking procedures in cooperation with the Wisconsin 

Department of Natural Resources. 

(3) Promptly following the EPA inspections in April 1979, 

Respondent complied with TSCA requirements by: preparing and distributing 
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a PCB compliance program to all Briggs and Stratton faci l ities, sampling and 

analyzing the dielectric fluid in all transformers , obtaining and distributing 

EPA-approved PCB stickers and labe 1 i ng capacitors and trans formers, preparing 

an appropriate storage area, and developing inventories and completing reports. 

FOURTH: Respondent's Fourth Defense , raising constitutional issuP.s , 

was ordered, by the undersigned, to be stricken at a prehearing conference 

held on February 21, 19BO. 

The parties exchanged prehearing mater ia l s by mail on December 5, 

1979 , a procedure provided in lieu of a prehearing conference by Section 22.19(e) 

of the Interim Rules of Praetice. A prehearing conference, requested by the 

parties, was held on February 21, 1980, at which a further exchange of prehearing 

information was effected. A hearing was held on March 11, 12 and 13, 1 ~80. at 

which Complainant was represented by Thomas W. Daggett and Donald S. Rothschi ld, 

Attorneys, Enforcement Division , US Environmental Protection Agency Region V, 

Chicago, Illinois; and Respondent was rep~esented by Charles Q. Kamps and Mary 

Pat Koesterer , Attorneys , Quarles and Brady, Milwaukee , Wisconsin . Compl ainant 

presented three witnesses and five witnesses were called by the Respondent. 

Numerous exhibits were received in evidence. 

The Toxic Substances Control Act (the Act) and regulations promulgated 

pursuant thereto provide, in pertinent part, as follows: 

THE ACT 

SEC. 6lf REGULAT ION OF HAZARDOUS CHEMICAL SUBSTANCES AND MIXTURES. 

(a) SCOPE OF REGULATION. If the Administrator finds •• that 
the . • . use , or disposal, of a chemical substance or 
mixture . .. presents or will present an unreasonable risk 
of injury to health or t he environmen t , (he ) shall by 
rule (require) •• • : 

(3) .. . that each SJbstance ••. or any articl e containing such 
substance ••. be marked •••• The form and content of such 
1·1arnings and instructions shall be prescribed by t he 
Administrator . 

11 15 usc 2605 
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(6) (regulation of ) ... any manner or method of disposal of sucn 
substance ... by ... person who uses, or disposes of, it .... 

(e) POLYCHLORi t~ATEO BIPHEi~YLS (PCBs). 

(1) .•. the Administrator shall promulgate rules to-

(A) prescribe methods for the disposal of PCBs, and 

(B) requi re PCBs to be marked with clear and adequate warni ngs •.. 

(5) Th i s subsection does not limit t he authority of the Admin-
istrator •. . t o take action respecti ng any PCB. 

SEC . 15£/ PROHIBITED ACTS. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to--

(1) fail or refuse to comply with .•• (B) any requirement 
prescribed b~ Section 5 or 6, or (C) any rule 
promulgated or order issued under Section 5 or 6; 

(s ) fa i l or refuse t o (A) establish or maintai n records.-. 

SEC. 161' PE•~ALTIES. 

(a) CIVIL.--(1) Any person who violates a provision of Section 
15 shall be liable to the United States for a civil penalty 
in an · amount not to exceed $25,000 for each such violation. 
Each day such a violation continues shall, for purposes of 
this subsection, constitute a separate violation of Section 
15. 

(2)(A) A civil penalty for a violation of Section 15 shall 
be assessed by the Administrator ••• 

(B) In dete rmini ng t he amount of a civi l penalty, the 
Admi nistrator shall take into account the nature , 
circumstances, extent, and gravity of the violation(s), 
and with respect to the violator, ability to pay, 
effect on ability to continue 1n business, any 
history of prior such violations, the degree of 
culpability, and such other matters as justice may 
require. 

The Rules of Practice, Section 22.27, 40 CFR, provide: 

Subpart £-Initio: Decision o nd 
Molior. To leopen o Hearing 

-f n .27 lnili~ol dtci•ion. 

*** 
<b> Amount of civil pcnaltv. The pre

sidinc omcer shall determine the 
dolla~ amount ot the recommended 
c::vil p(:r.a!ty to be assessed In the fru· 
Ual de::i4ion In a ccordnnce with any 
~:it~ria ~ct : orth In th e act relatlnc to 
tht- prop~r amc.unt or & cfl'll pcna.lt~·. 
:u:d :!l :JSL ("():\Sider any civil pe n&lty 
£!.ildc!ines ;:~ubiished under the 1.ct. 
The Presldin c oftlccr may fncrea.se or 

15 usc 2614 
15 usc 2615 

decrease the assessed pen~ty !rom t l\..
amount proposed to be a..sessed In the 
compllllnt . 

<e> EJ/t.ct o/ i r. ttial de~sion. The m:· 
;ial decision .>1 the prcsldlnc o!!H.:er 
sl:all become the !lnal order ot the Ad· 
mlnlstra.tor within !ony-!h•e <4S> can 
•tter Its receipt by the hearinc clerk 
and 14'llhout further proceeding-s 
unltss <I> an appeal to the Admlnlsttll· 
tor Is tak <'n !rom It by a party to the 
Noceedln~s. or <2 > the .Administrator 
('fCcts. sua SO)Onte , to revie\4' the lnltl&l 
J~cis.on. 
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REGULATIONS41 

~ ;6) .~ Dtf:nilion._ 
For the purpose o1 this part: 

*** 
<c> "Cap~cl:cr" me:o~.s a de\·lce for 

acc:.mulatln' and ho:~~., a chtrl:t' o! 
ck:.~ :~~::: :c:l'• ::-:~: .. : r! c<.·:.euclir.s: 
! ~l: · ··~"' · :... r:..: .:..! b~· :1 c1e!ctt:;c. 
T)·pos o! <'I>;J&c ltors are as fc.llows: 

*** 

<2> "L.'\rC<! Hich Voltaee Ca;>:~c::o7" 
r.lea!'LS " ca;>aclt.>r v.·!1ich cc.;~ta:ns 1.35 
1-: 13 J<'s.> c.r mort o! dit-lcctric- fluid 
end ~::1l:h op~r.aes at 2000 YoHs a.c. 
01' ;.t;,C,\'c!, 

(3J "L:.r;.c Low ·:<~llnt:c Capacitor" 
me~:·.• a c::,::.cltor v•h.ch cont;;.;ns 1.26 
ki: <3 ibJ.l o: mo.-1: o! d;el~c:rt• nu:d 
"ad "'-',:lc h c~cr:;tc~ bdc1i.· zooo \'O!:> 
A.C. 

*** 
<k> "Leak" or "leaklni" means any 

Instance In v.·htch a PCB articl~. PCB 
container. or PCB equipment h~ any 
PCB chemical substance or PCB milo:· 
tcre on a.ny portion oflt.o external sur· 
face. 

*** 
<nl " Marked" mea.ns t.he markir.e of 

P CB's, PCB's swraee are~ ~nd trans· 
port ''ehlcles b)' me:uu of app\)'inl: a 
le;lble &nll~k b)' palntln,. f ixation of 
a:'l adhesi\'C l&bel, or other zne~hod 
tha: rr.eets the reQuirements of this 
rerulatlon. 

*** 
(Ql "PCB" and "PCB's" mean one or 

more of the followlnlr. " PCB Chemical 
Substa.n:e", "PCB Mllo:ture", "PC.E: AI· 
Ucle", "PCB Equl;>ment", and "PCB 
Container." 

<rl "PCB Article" means any zr.ar,u· 
1actured Item. other than a PCB con· 
tainer. v.·hose aur!ace<s> has been In 
direct contact with a PCB chemical 
substance or a PCB mixture. and in· 
eludes capacitors. tr~<r.sfo:-mers. elec· 
tric molors, pumps, and pipes. 

Is > "P CI:! Article Cont .. lr.tr " n1tan:: 
any packas:e. can. bottlt, ba&. barrel. 
drum. t£nk or other de\'lee usc:! ~o 
contain PCB uticles or PCB eQuip. 
mtnt, and ~~o·hosc surf~LC:<:I~l has n o: 
been In d irect conta~t v.lth a PCD 
chemical sublunee or PCI:! mlx~urc. 

.,. .. 
<ul " PCB Conulner" meiiJU a r.y 

pa.ckaee, can, bottle, bar. barrel, drum. 
ta:'lk. or other de\·lce used to contalr. a. 
PCB chemical aubsunce. P CB mlx· 
turt. or PCB article. and v.·ho~~ 
scrl:.ct<sl ha.s been In dJrect con~:~o:t 
·v;ith a PCB chemlcr.l aubsur.:c vr 
PCB mixture. 

t** 

<w> "PCB Mixture" means any mix· 
ture v.·hlch contains 0.0~ percent <on a 
dry v.·eleht ba.slsl or lrTe&ter of a PCB 
chemical substance, and any mix~u:c 
which contai."''S less than 0.0:1 percent 
PCB chemical substance because of 
any dilution of a mixture containlniJ 
more than 0.03 percent P CB chemicAl 
subs~ance. This d efinition Includes. 
but Is not limited \.0, dJelectrlc fluid 
and contaminated JOI \'tntl, oils. v.·a.ste 
oils. other chemicals. n.as. soU. paints. 
debris. sludee. slurries. dredae spoUs. 
IU'ld materials contaminated u a res~:lt 51 of apllls. ·-.... 

<z> "Storaee for Disposal" means 
te!"'aporary storas:e of PCB's that have 
been desiPlated for dlspos&l. 

*** 
1761.10 Di&pooal requirement&. 

..... 
<c> 14) Etoraee ot PCB articles-except 

for a PCB a~<l:le de!crlbed In aubpara· 
rT:lPh <2> <U> o: this pa:atn"aph. any 
PCB article shaU be stored In accor· 
dr.ncc v.·;:n Annex UI prior to disposal. §.J 

Promulga ted February 17, 1g78 at 43 FR 7150 et seq., effective 
April 18 , 1978. The current regulations , 40 CFR Part 761, were 
promulgated May 31, 1979 at 44 FR 31514 et seq., effective date 
July 2, 1979 and t hus were not in effect at the time of the 
inspection of Respondent's faci li ties in April 1979 • 

. 05 percent is equivalent of 500 p.p.m. This rule was modi fied 
in ~h~ current regulations to decrease the l ower limit of the 
def1n1tion from 500 p.p.m. to 50 p.p.m. (See Note 4, hereinabove) . 

Annex 111 is Section 761 .42, Storage for Disposal. 

' 
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1161.42 SluraJ< fur ditpo .. l. 

••• 
<bl Ex~~;>t as provld~d In ~:a.ra~aph 

<cl of tt.is s~ctaon. afttr J-...!y 1, 1~78, 
own~~s or op~ra~ors of an~· fscllltles 
c·:~·:! s ... r ~h.: .~or;. c c o1 PCI.l'S ~.·s!~mat.
: !or d!:;;:os2.l shall cc.:-r.;>h' v.-ith the 
t.>;:;>wh:; rqulrcmen~s: 

())Such lo.clllties shall ha,·c: 
m ;..., a~equ:te roof and 9.'J.lls to 

r·~t-,·,·r.t rr In v.·atcr from rcachiDI: the 
s~' rc-J PC!:ls. 

Oil 1-'1 ~dec;u:ne nc-or v:hich hr..s con
tim:o..:s cu~binC v.·ith a minimum six 
Inch l~!~t. c10rb. Such noor r.nd cu~b!n&: 
must ~ro\'lde a cr.r.talnment \'Olume 
eQ,;~,l to 10t ltast tv.·o times the Internal 
\'Oiumt ~~ the llrl:~•t PCB trtlcle or 
PC3 cont:!.lr.tr s~or.:d thcrelr. or 2S 
pcr~c:lt c.! the tot:~l lnte~ \'Oiume of 
&11 PC3 eQutp:'!'e:lt or contalners 
stored thtreln, v.·hJche\'er II &Teater. 

*** 

ctvl Floors and curbln&: constructed 
of continuous smooth and Impervious 
m::.~eria!s such as Portland cement 
co:lcre~e or steel to prevent or mini· 
mize penetration of PCB chemical 5Ub· 
stances or mixtures. 

*** 

1161.%0 Markinr ffi!ulromenl&. 

<al The tolloww marklnr reQuire-
ments shall apply: · 

<1 l Each of the tollo,.·ln&: I\ ems In 
existence on or allcr July 1, I ~78 shall 
be mark~d as illustrated In Firure 1 In 
Annex V-Scc!lon 761.44<al: The f:l&rk 
ilh:stratcd In Fi~urc I Is referred to as 
M, throuehout this ~ubpart. 

<il PCB containers: 
!ill PCD tn.nsformers at the time of 

manufacture. at the lime of distribu
tion ln commerce It not alread~· Ia· 
beled, and at the time of removal from 
US<' It not already Iabrie.!: 

<liil PCB larae hi I h vo1ta1:e cap!Lcl· 
tors at the lime of ~r.~n~hcture, at U.)e 
time ot distribution ln c<omf:lerce lt not 
already labeled, ar.cJ at the time of re
moval !rom use If r:ot alrcn:Sy labeled; 

<ivl E<;u!pf:lent co::talnln~t a PCB 
trar.sformer or a PCll la~ce h!eh \'Olt· 
ace capacitor at the time of n~anufac
ture, at the time of ~lstribution In 
corruncrce it not already labeled. and 
at the time of rtmoval ot the equip
ment trom usc It not already labeled. 

<vl PCB l&rie lov.· volta!:~ capacitors 
a t the time of ren·.ov:~l from usc. 

(vi> Electr!c rr.~;tcrs ~:~in~: PCB cool-
ants. . 

<viii li)'draullc zn:~chtnery uslnc PCB 
hydraulic fluid. 

*** 

<ix l PCB article containers conta:a. 
lnl: anlclcs or eQ~:l:.mcr:t that m~~ ~ 
marked under provisioru <i I thro1.:£t", 
<vUil above. 

<xl Each storare area used to ato:t 
PCB's tor dtspow. 

*** 

<31M ot January 1. 1~'79, the follow· 
lne PCB'a ainU be marked .. ·lth mark 
M, as described ln Annex V-uctlon 
761.H<a.l: 

(I) All transformers not :narked 
under puarraph <ll ot this sec:tlor:: 

<UI 'All larae htrh voltage ca;uu.-!:ors 
not marked under par.Acraph <ll ot 
this section ln accordance with one c.t 
the toUowln&: method$: 

<AI each lndlvldual c:o.pa.citor is to be 
marked 'll.'ith mark l.& ... or 

<Bl lt one or more PCB larce hl1:h 
voltaee capacitors are lnstalled ln a 
protected location as on a p;;wer pole, 
or structure, or behlnd a fence: the 
pole. structure, or fence is to be 
marked v.·ith mark M. o.nd a record or 
procedure ldentlfyL'l&: the PCB cap.acl· 
tors II to be malntatned by the owner 
or operator at the prot.ec:tc;>d locatlcn. 

*** 

f 761.4S Rrcordt and IIIOnilori:-11. 
<a l PCB ·s In aer\'ite or p:o;ect.ec !or 

d ls;>es3l. Be;lnn!nll' Ju!~· :l 1973. each 
ov.'Tle: o: operator of a taca!::y ccn:a:: •. 
lnl at lea.st <&S l:i!o~ <S&.i llO:l!:dsl 
or I'C3 c:hemlcl.! substH.ces or PCB 
mixtures cont~<ined ln a PCB contai::er 
or PCB containers. or one or more 
PCB trnr.sformers. or SO or more PCB 
Ja:it hll:h or lov.· voltage capacitors 
s~.all develop o.nd ma!n~~>ln records on 
tt.e dJ.sposltion of PCD's. These re· 
cord.l shall form the b:u!a o! an &n.'1Ual 
~ocument prepued to: each !ac:!Jity 
by July 1 c:o\·erbi the prev!ous c.llen· 
dar yeu. Ov.T.ers or oper&;ors -a·ith 
more than one tac!Jit)' 'll.'hicb con:..Uns 
PCB'a ln the QUantities described 
~bo,·e may malntr.:n the records and 
documents at :L s!."lCle location. pro· 
\•id~d the ldentaty of this location is 
&\'ki!able at each !acUity c:ontainlnr 
PCB'a that 1.5 n.>TT:lally manned !or 8 
hours a dAY. 

' 
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On consideration of the record made herein, including the transcript 

of the testimony, the exhibits received, the proposed findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, briefs, and arguments submitted by counsel, I make and find 

the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law: 

FIN0INGS OF FACT 

COMPLAitlT -001 , Wauwatosa 

l. The Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation, maintains a 

place of business at 3300 North 124th Street, in Wauwatosa, Wisconsin. 

2. On April 18 and' 19, 1979, an inspection was conducted at this 

facility by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), after writt~n Notice 

of Inspection was provided to Respondent, to determine compliance with the 

PCB Disposal and Marking Regulations, 40 CFR 761 (1978). 

3. Participants in the inspection were Mr. Wayne Kaiser, an employee 

of EPA Region V, and Messrs. Michael Calho.lpl and Hal Bryson, employees of 

Versar, Inc., which at the time of the inspection, was under contract to EPA 

to perform inspections concerning the use of PCBs. 

4. At the time of the inspection on April 18 and 19, nine capacitors, 

containing PCB dielectric fluid, were being stored on a loading aock at 

Wauwatosa awaiting disposal. 

5. Said capacitors each contained in excess of three pounds of PCB 

dielectric fluid and a total of approximately 200 pounds of PCB. 

6. Four of the nine capacitors were ruptured and leaking and a drum, 

containing the four ruptured capacitors, was damaged,laying on its side, and 

leaking fluid from the ruptured capacitors out onto the loading dock. 

7. The fluid from the capacitors contained in excess of 500 parts 

per million PCB. 
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· 8. The loading dock area where said capacitors were stored had no 

curbing and did not have walls other than a back wall. The area had only a 

partially overhanging roof, which, with the one wall, was not adequate to 

prevent rain water from reaching the stored PCB capacitors. 

9. The t:"pac• .... l·s :. ;·ored for d:sposal on the loading dock were not 

transferred to a storage area designed to satisfy regula tory requirements unti 1 

September 10, 1979. 

10. Some of these capacitors had been removed from service since 1978. 

-11. It is admi tted by Respondent that, at the time of the inspection 

on April 18 and 19, 1979, it maintained in service several transformers at 

Wauwatosa that contained dielectric fluid containing over 500 parts per million 

PCB, that were not marked as required by the PCB disp~sal and marking regula-

tions . 

,. 
12. The inspectors located seven.-i>CB transformers at the facility, 

six of which each contained 3920 pounds of PCB, and the seventh contained 

4210 pounds of PCB. 

13. Responden t admits that, at the time of the inspection, it main

tained in service at Wauwatosa several larg~ high-voltage capacitors containing 

PCB dielectric fluid that were not marked as required by the PCB disposa l and 

marking regulations. 

14. The inspectors found a total of 36 large high-voltage PCB 

capacitors in service at the facility. 

15. Respondent admits that, at the time of the inspection , it maintained 

several large high-voltage capacitors, that had been removed from service, at 

llauwatosa> that had not been marked as required by the PCB disposal and marking 

regulations. 
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16. The inspectors found seven of the above -mentioned PCB capacitors 

removed from service. 

17. Respondent admits that, at the time of the inspection, it maintained 

several large low-voltage capacitors, that had been removed from service, at said 

facility, that had not been marked as required by the PCB disposal and mark ::·:) 

regulations. 

18. The inspectors found two of said large low-voltage capacitors 

removed from service. 

19. Respondent admits that , at the t ime of the inspection , it main-.,.... 

tained several containers holding PCBs and PCB equipment removed from service 

at Hauwatosa that were not marked as required by the PCB disposal and marking 

regulations. 

20. The afore-mentioned containers had approximately 200 pounds of 

PCBs stored in them at the time of the inspection. 

21. Respondent admits that , at the time of the inspection, it main -

tained at ~/auwatosa an area that was used to store PCBs and PCB articles for 

disposal, and that this area was not marked as required by the PCB disposal and 

marking regulations. 

22. In the entire time that they were at Wauwatosa , the i nspectors 

did not find any piece of PCB equipment or any PCB container that contained the 

mark required , for such items, by the PCB disposal and marking regulations. 

23. No one on Respondent's staff ever placed any sort of cautionary 

PCB marking, whether the specific mark required by federal law or· otherwise, on 

any of Respondent's electrical equipment containing PCB prior to the Apri l 1979 

inspection. 

24. Respondent undertook to correct its failure to ~roperly mark 

the aforementioned unmarked lar9e hi gh-vol tage PCB capacitors, the lar~e low-
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voltage PCB capacitors , and the unmarked PCB containers , and to develop an 

area to hold PCB items for disposal in.May or June 1979 and its efforts were 

on-going from the time of said undertaking until on or near September 20, 1979 

to properly mark and remove said items to an appropriate storage area and to 

ass~mble information to put together an annual document. 

25. At the time of the inspection on April 18 and 1g, 1979, 

Respondent maintained seven transformers at Wauwatosa containing dielectric 

fluids with PCB at a concentration in excess of 500 parts per million, and in 

addition, Respondent was there storing in excess of 100 pounds of PCBs in PCB 

containers. -
26. The annual document that Respondent eventually completed for 

Wauwatosa, dated September 1979 , indicates that there are 273 large high - and 

low-voltage PCB capacitors at said facility. 

27. Respondent did not acquire any piece of PCB equipment after Apr il 

1979. 

28. Respondent maintained in excess of 50 large high- and low-voltage 

PCB capacitors at Wauwatosa at the time of the Apri l 18-19, 1979 inspection. 

29. At the time of the inspection, Complainant's inspector asked 

members of Respondent's staff to allow him to revi ew any records that Respondent 

kept on PC8s at Wauwatosa. 

30. Upon reviewing the records that the Respondent had, the inspector 

discovered that t here were no records pertaining to t he following: 

a. the dates of removal from service for the PCB equipment 

stored for disposal on the loading dock. 

b. the dates that the capatitors on the loading dock had been 

placed in storage for disposal. 
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c. the number of capacitors stored for disposal. 

d. the total weight of PCBs in containers in storage for 

disposal. 

e. the total number of PCB transformers then and there in 

service. 

f. the total weight of PCBs contained in PCB transformers. 

g. the total number of PCB l arge high- and low-voltage 

capacitors. 

31. -Respondent was unable to use the records it had as of Apri l 1979 

as the basis for its annual document, but rather was required to inventory and 

identify many of the additional PCB items before producing an annual document. 

32. As indicated on the face of the documents , the annual document 

for the PCB storage area (Exhibit C-19, segment entitled "PCB Storage at 

Burleigh Plant", 5 pages), the 1978 annual document for Wauwatosa overall 

(Exhibit C-19, segment entitled "PCB Report, Briggs and Stratton Corporation , 

Burleigh Plant, for year Jaa. 1-Dec . 31, 1979", one page) and the inventory 

that formed the basis of said annual document for Wauwatosa (Exhibit C-19 , 

segment entitled "Inventory of Electr ical Equipment containing PCB Fl uids , 

Briggs and Stratton Corporation , 124th Street Pl ant", 20 pages) were completed 

in September 1979. 

33. Respondent furnished only approximate dates (i .e., 1978 - 1979) 

as the dates that 14 PCB large capacitors were "removed from sarvice" at 

Wauwatosa indicating a necessity of speculation as to the actual dates of thei r 

removal from service. (Exhigi t C-19 , page entitled "PCB Report, Briggs and 

Stratton Corporation, Burleigh Plant , for year Jan. 1-Dec. 31 , 1979) . 
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COMPLAINT -002, West Allis 

34. Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation, maintains a place of 

business at 1708 South 6B Street in West Allis, Wisconsin. 

35. On or about April 20, 1979, an inspection was conducted, after 

.proper notice, at "West Allis" by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EP~, 

to determine compliance with the PCB Disposal and Marking regulations, 40 CFR 

761, 43 FR 7150 (February 17, 1978j. 

36. Participants in said inspection were Mr. Wayne Kaiser , an 

employee of EPA Region V and~essrs. Michael Calhoun and Hal Bryson, employees 

of Versar, Inc., which company was under contract to the EPA to perform 

inspections concerning the use of PCBs . 

37. At the time of the inspection on April .20, 1979, Respondent 

maintained at West Allis an induction furnace that was not in service • 

. 
38. Said induction furnace was three or four years old; it had 

repeated operational problems. 

39. The Briggs and Stratton representative appointed to escort the 

inspectors around West Allis was Mr. Shawley, the electrician with the longest 

tenure at the plant. 

40. Upon inquiry, Mr. Shawley indicated to the inspectors that the 

Respondent was "going to get rid of"said induction furnace. 

41. At the time of there-inspection on February 20, 1980, said 

induction furnace was still not in service and was located near a door leading 

to the outside. 

42. Recent negotiations between Respondent and the manufacturer of 

the furnace have led to an agreement to take back the furnace , but not the 

electrical equipment (i.e ., the capacitors). 



- 13 -

43. Respondent's Chief Chemist and Environmental Engineer stated 

(T 388) that, at t he time of the April 1g7g inspection, there was no area 

anywhere at West Allis, including the area where the capacitors were actually 

found, that was designated to meet the standards of the PCB disposal and · 

marking regulations for the storage of PCB items. 

44. Respondent admits that, at the time of the inspection on 

April 20, 197g, it maintained in service at West Allis at least one trans

former that contained PCB dielectric fluid that was not marked as required 

by the PCB disposal and marking regulations. 

-
45. One Allis-Chalmers transformer, located in a rooftop substation, 

contained 5265 pounds of PCB. 

46. Testing by Respondent of the fluid in said transformer as of 

May 3, 1979 revealed that it contained 8gQ,OOO parts per million PCB . 

47. Respondent tested the fluids contained in two additional 

transformers at this facility, referred to as Wagner transformers, on May 3, 

1979. Respondent's analysis then revealed that these transformers contained 

55,000 parts per mi llion PCB and g40,000 parts per million PCB respectively . 

48. Both of said Wagner transformers had contained 12g gallons of PCB 

at one time . 

49. Respondent's records indicated that only one 129 gallon trans

former had been retrofilled with non-PCB fluid. 

50. The high percentage of PCBs in the other Wagner transformer , 

i.e. 94 percent, indicates t he ~mprobability that said transformer was ever 

retrofilled with non-PCB fluid. 

51. Neither of said Wagner transformers were marked with the PCB 

cautionary label specified in the PCB disposal and marking regul ations, nor 

with any sort of manufacturer's cautionary PCB label , at the time of the April 

197g inspection. 
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52. Each of the Wagner transformers contain 668.2 kilograms (1470 

pounds) of fluid. 

53. Respondent admits that , at the time of t he Apr i l 20, 1979 

inspection, it maintained in service at West Allis several large high-voltage 

capacitors, containing PC3 dielectric fluid, in an overhead bank. No mark was 

visible on the capacitors or the bank as was required by the PCB disposal and 

marking regulations. 

54. Respondent admits that, at the time of t he inspection, it 

maintained in service at said facility at least one large high-voltage capacitor 

containing PCB dielectric fl~td on a pole outside substation 10. Neither the 

capacitors nor the pole were marked as required by the PCB disposa l and marking 

regulations. 

55. At the time of t he inspection, Respondent maintained at West Allis 

20 l arge low-voltage capacitors in an induction furnace which capaci t ors, along 

with the induction furnace. had been removed from use . 

56. Said 20 PCB capacitors were not marked with the PCB cautionary 

label required by the PCB disposal and marking regulations. 

57. The EPA Inspection revealed t hat none of the equipment, nor any 

storage area, at West Allis, was marked with the PCB cautionary label specified. 

in the PCB disposal and marking regulations. 

58. At the time of the inspection on April 20, 1979, Respondent 

maintained at least one transformer at Wes t Allis containing dielectric fluids 

with an excess of 500 parts per million PCB. 

59. There were at least two transformers at West Allis containing 

PCB f luids at t he time of subject inspection containing a total of 6735 pounds 

of PCBs. 

60. Respondent admits that, at the time of the inspection on April 20, 

1979, it maintained at West Allis at least 50 large high- and low-voltage 
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capacitors containing dielectric fluids with an excess of 500 parts per 

million PCB. 

61. The annual document of Respondent for West Allis, dated 

Septemb er 28, 1979, indicates that there are 75 PCB capacitors and three 

PCB transforme rs i n serv>ce at the ~ t :.ility. 

62. PCB equipment appearing on the annual document was present at 

West Allis at the time of the April 1979 inspection. 

63. The only records Respondent maintained on PCBs and PCB equipment 

at West Allis on April 20, 1979, were records on the servicing of the trans-

formers, documenting the topping off or retrofilling of fluids in the 

transformers; there were no records on the total number of PCB large hign- and 

low-voltage capacitors then and there in service, nor records on the dates 

that the PCB capacitors in the induction furnace had been removed from service . 

64. Respondent was unable to use the records it had as of April 1979 
' 

as the basis for its annual document and was required to inventory and identify 

additional PCB items before producing an annual document, dated September 25, 

1979 (see Exhibit C-19). 
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COMPLAINT -003 , Milwaukee 

65. Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation, maintains a place 

of business at 2560 North 3l Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin ("Milwaukee"}. 

66. On April 19, 1979, an inspection was conducted after proper notice 

at Milwauk~~ by US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to determine compliance 

with the PCB disposal and marking regulations 40 CFR 761, 43 FR 7150 · 

(February 17, 1978). 

67. Participants in the inspection were Mr. Wayne Kaiser, an employee 

of EPA Region V and Messrs.~ichael Calhoun and Hal Bryson , employees of Versar, 

Inc. which was under contract to the EPA to perform inspections to determine 

compliance with the PCB disposal and marking regulations. 

68. During the April 1979 inspection, Complainant's inspector located 

a transformer (referred to as "Maloney" transformer , T 517} at Milwaukee that ne 

identified as containing PCB based upon density information contained on the 

transformer's nameplate~ which he read as stating that the transformer contained 

100 gallons of fluid (T 145) weighing 1200 pounds. Respondent's Exhibit 35 shows 

that said Maloney mineral oil transformer nameplate actually states tnat said 

transformer contains 160 gallons of oil with a weight of 1200 pounds, indicating 

a weight of 7.5 pounds per gallon. 

6g. PCB fluids are within the range of 10 to 12 pounds per gallon~ 

other fluids weight less per gall on. 

COl1PLAINTS -001, -002 and -003 

70. The term polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB} is used for a group of 

related chemicals (i.e. isomers) which have different numbers of chlorines on 

two rings of carbon atoms. The PCBs currently in use are "commercial mixtures" 

containing various percentages of these isomers. 

71. Different "commercial mixtures" of PCB have the same qualitative 

toxic effects, but some are stronger toxicants, and some are more persistent. 
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72. The particular "co1TV11ercial mixtures" of PCBs that are typically 

found in transformers and capacitors have been studied, and found to nave 

detrimental health effects; including the following: 

a. they affect reproduction and cause liver damage in rodents. 

b. they cause skin problems in monkeys similar to those that 

have been observed in humans. 

c. even in very low concentrations, they severely affect 

reproduction in minks and certain primates . 

d. in tests o~humans, they have been shown to cause abnormal 

liver functioning. 

e. human workers exposed for long periods of time have shown 

increased serum lipid levels, a condition that is believed to be l inked to 

the development of arteriosclerosis. 

f. preliminary studies have found an excess of cancer of the 

pancreas and melanocarcinoma in human workers exposed to PCB mixtures. 

73. An added problem with PCBs is their persistence in the body; 

they can accumulate in the fatty tissue , and be very hard to get rid of . 

74. The body establishes an equilibrium with the chemical , so that 

v1hen there is an accumulation of PCB in the fatty tissue, some PCB will also 

ue in other organs such as the liver. 

75. The presistence of PCBs aggravates problem.s resulting from 

discharge of PCBs into the environment by risking the contamination of the 

food chain. 

76. Studies have shown that men exposed to PCBs at work can 

inadvertently contaminate their families with residues that come home on their 

clothes. 
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77. Studies have shown that women who have been exposed to PCBs 

excrete the chemical in milk. 

78. The acute (i.e. short term) toxicity of PCBs is low, so people 

exposed to PCB would probably not notice symptoms that would alert them to 

danger. 

79. It is the chronic toxicity of PCBs and their buildup in the 

environment, that justifies their rigorous control. 

80. Respondent has been,without question, cne of the largest 

industrial users of polychlor.inated biphenyls in the United States. 

81. Because Respondent was such a large user of PCBs, Complainant 

sent Respondent a letter in 1976 expressing Complainant's concern over the 

hazards of the chemical, and requesting information from Respondent on the 

use and handling of PCBs in its operations. 

82. After the PCB disposal and marking regLlations that are the 

subject of this proceeding became effective, Complainant forwarded to 

Respondent a letter (Exhibit C-9) explaining the requirements of the regu

lations, and requesting Respondent to voluntarily comply with these 

requirements. The letter pointed out, however, that compliance was mandatory, 

and the failure to comply could result in the imposition of penalties. This 

letter was received by Respondent in April or May 1978, nearly a year before 

the inspections that led to this enforcement proceeding. 

83. Respondent is a large corporation, having gross sales in 1979 

of between $500,000,000 and $600,000,000. 

84. The Respondent employes in excess of 11,000 people in six 

manufacturing facilities. 

85. Respondent's payroll is approximately $5,500,000 per week. 
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86. In Respondent's corporate structure, full responsibility for 

complying with all environmental laws .was delegated to the head of tile 

1 abora tory. 

87. This is t he only laboratory maintained by Respondent, and is 

responsjble for all analyses on an_., prodt~ction elat, : issues in any of 

Respondent's six facilities. 

88. Of Respondent's 11,000 employees, six are assigned to the 

laboratory . 

89. Prior to the ~ril 1979 inspection, no one on Respondent's 

staff placed any cautionary PCB label, whether the one required by the regu

lations or any other version, on any piece of electrical equipment at the 

Briggs and Stratton facilities. 

90. Prior to the April 1979 inspection; no one on Respondent's staff 

had made any attempt to keep records of P~~ equipment at the Briggs and 

Stratton facilities so as to conform :o the PCB regulations. 

91. Prior to the April 1979 inspection, Respondent had no PCB storage 

area at any of its facilities designed to meet tne requiremts for such storage 

areas. 

92. Respondent has been fined in the past for failure to comply with 

environmental requirements. 

93. Respondent was chosen as one of the first to have inspection for 

compliance with these regulations because they were such a large user of PCBs. 

94. The 35 full PCB compliance inspections that have been condwcted 

to date in Region V have revealed an alarmingly high rate of non-compliance . 

However, the companies, in most instances, have taken some steps to comply while 

not completely satisfying the regulations . 
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95. Respondent's executive vice president agreed that additional 

violations by Respondent are unlikely and that t his fact is attributable more 

to the instant enforcement action seeking civil penalties than to its 

attitude of voluntary compliance. 

96. Wi tness Simon (T 314) testified that effective compliance will 

not be achieved if each industry must be first inspected before compliance 

because full PCB compliance inspection of the 3000 industries in Region V 

would take an estimated 60 years . 
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CO!lCLUSIO!jS OF LAW 

C0t1PLAI NT - 001 Wauwatosa 

Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation, has violated Section 

15 of TSCA (15 USC 2614) and the following regulations , to-wit: 

1. 40 CFR 761.10 (r. · ' ·~ ), 1978, by storing PCB articles for disposal 

in a manner not in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR 761.42. 

2. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(3)(i),(1978), by failing to mark PCB transformers 

in accordance with 40 CFR 761.44 (Marking formats). 

3. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(3)(ii) , (1978), by failing to mark large high-..-

voltage PCB capacitors in service in accordance with 40 CFR 761.44. 

4. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(l}{iii) , (1978) , by failing to mark large high-

.voltage capacitors in storage for disposal in accord4nce with 40 CFR 761.44. 

5. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(l}(v) by failing to mark large low-voltage PCB 

capacitors in storage for disposal in acco~dance with 40 CFR 761.44. 

6. 40 CFR 761.20(a}(l}(i) and (a)(l}(ix) , (l978}, by failing to mark 

containers holding PCBs and PCB equipment stored for disposal in accordance 

with 40 CFR 761.44. 

7. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(l)(x) ,( l978), by maintaining PCBs and PCB 

equipment in storage for disposa l in an area that was not marked in accordance 

with 40 CFR 761.44. 

8. 40 CFR 761 .45(a} by failing to maintain records on the disposition 

of PCBs and PCB items adequate to form the basis for the preparation of an 

annual document , with data prescribed by the regulation, by July 1. 1979. 
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COMPLAINT - 002 , West Allis 

Respondent, Briggs and Stratton Corporation , has violated Section 15 

of TSCA (15 USC 261 4) and the following regulations, to-wit: 

9. 40 CFR 761 .10(c)(4) and 40 CFR 761.10 (b)(S), (1978), by storing 

PCB articles for disposal in a manne r not in accordance with the requirements 

of 40 CFR 761.42. 

10. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(3)(i), (1978), by failing to mark PCB trans

formers in accordance with 40 CFR 761.44 (marking formats). 

11. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(3)(ii) , (1978), by failing to mark large hi gh-

vol t age PCB capaci tors in service in accordance wi t h 40 CFR 761 .44. 

12. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(l)(v), (1978) , by failing to mark large low-

voltage PCB capacitors t hat had been removed from use in accordance with 

40 CFR 761.44. 

13. 40 CFR 761.20(a)(l)(x) , (1978) , by maintaining large low-voltage 

PCB capacitors t hat had been removed from use and were in storage for disposal 

in an area that was not marked i n accordance with 40 CFR 761.44. 

14. 40 CFR 761.45(a) by failing to maintain recordson the disposition 

of PCBs and PCB items adequate to form the basis for the preparation of an 

annual document with data prescribed by the regulation, by July 1, 1979. 
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COMPLAI lH - 003, Mi lwaukel? 

15. At the prehearing conference on February 21, 1980 , Complainant 

withdrew Coun t 1 of the instant Complaint , TSCA-V-C-003, in accordance witn the 

Rules of Practice here applicable, 43 FR 22.14(d). 

16. On this record, the transformer, referred to in Count 2 of the 

Complaint, did not contain dielectric fluid with PCB content in excess of 500 

parts per million, and therefore the requirement that Respondent develop and 

maintain records on the disposition of PCB at Milwaukee was not triggered. 

{See 40 CFR 761.45(a)). 

17. Complainant's Motion to amend said Complaint on February 21 , 1980 

was properly refused as not being at a time sufficiently in advance of the 

Adjudicatory Hearing, which began on March 11 , 1980, to afford Respondent 

ample and t imely notice of the nature, character and extent of, nor adequate 

time to prepare its defense to the violati.ons thereby sought to be alleged. 

18. On this record, there being no proof of the essential elements 

of the violation charged, no civil penalty 's.hould be assessed, as proposed 

by Complainant, for failure to maintain records at Mi lwaukee. 



- 24 -

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW N~O DISCUSSION 

Respondent's Appendix to Brief 

With its Brief accompanying its Proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law, Respondent has filed its Appendix A presenting complaints 

concerning about 40 different companies, involving proposed penalties and 

settlement figures ranging from $5,000 to $131,000. The companies vary 

greatly in their size and include various businesses as well as several muni 

cipalities and utility companies. Respondent's suggestion that EPA's "practice 

in like cases" must control the amount of the penalty, at best, begs the -
question and is an effort at over-simplification carried to its extreme. 

Appendix A simply reveals no case or cases that can be considered a "case like 

Briggs and Stratton'.'. Such a criterion defies definition. Consideration of 

all of the statutory factors, pertaining to the subject violation as well as 

to the violator, must be fully utilized in each individual case. It is further 

apparent that each of the factors provided by the statute requires the careful 

consideration of all facts revealed by the record and that a variance in the 

facts will modify various findings with respect to the violation as well as the 

violator. 

The nature , circumstances, extent and gravity of the violations 

complained of in the cases reviewed in said Appendix A is not developed fully 

nor do the complaints establish, on their face, the degree of culpability of 

the violator. It is apparent that careful consideration of any one of the 

single factors mentioned in the Act might well transform a violation into one 

more or less grave than would otherwise be the case. I conclude that, if 

uniformity is to be achieved, it must be reached by the consideration of the 

factors in the Act and each of them, in light of the record evidence presented 

at a hearing. Placing a price tag on a violation without adequate consideration 

of the factors pertaining to the violation as well as the violator is not only 

contrary to express provisions of the Act, but tends to defeat rather than 
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advance the purpose of the Act in prescribing t he assessment of civil penalties. 

The singular purpose sought is to achieve compliance with regulations governing 

the use and handling of PCHs which clearly present a hazard to man and the 

en vi ron men t. 

Penalties 

Respondent has contended throughout this proceeding that the penalties 

sought are "penal "--that the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), Section 16(a) 

prescribes a punishment for past violations; however, I find the reverse to be 

true. The penalties here sought are civil or remedial, assessed for the -regulatory purpose of achieving future compliance with the Act by Respondent and 

others similarly situated. 

As was stated in Belsinger v D.C. (1969), 295 F.S . 159: 

"The offense here was not a criminal offense but a 
regul atory one. In regulatory offenses, the public 
interest outweighs an indivi~ual interest. Thus , 
for sake of adequate public protection it is necessary 
to hold the licensee to that standard of conduct 
which will insure resul t." 

See also U.S. v Dotterweich (1943), 320 U.S. 277 , 281; U.S. v Balint, et al, 

258 U.S. 250, 42 S.Ct., 301 (1938). 

Section 16(a) of the Act does not require that the violation be done 

"knowingly or wilfully", whereas Section 16(b), the subsection applying to 

criminal violations , does contain such terminology. It will be further observed 

that Section 16(a) of the Act provides that a civil penalty be sought for 

violations of Section 15. While monetary penalties have traditionally been 

regarded as a form of crimina l punishment , their collect ion as a ci vi l remedy is 

widely accepted , and where collection of the penalty is to be effectuated through 

a "distinctly civil procedure", congressional intent to impose a civil rather than 

criminal sanction is clear. [Helvering v Mitchell , 303 U.S. 391 , 58 S.Ct., 

630 (1938). Also see U.S. v Eureka Pipe Line Company, 401 F.S. 934 (1975)], 

Eureka hold~ that where the purpose of the civi l penalty is to regulate t he 



•. 

- 26 -

activity involved, the monetary penalties imposed for infractions of federal 

statutes have often been viewed as ~ivil rather than criminal. See further 

1 Davis, Section 8.16, page 594, Hote 1, and again Section 2. 13, at page 133, 

where it is stated t ha t administrative agencies do not impose cri mi nal penalties. 

I fin d tha t the civ il pr.n al~ · here sought is not penal in nature as contended 

by Respondent. No arbitrary penal sum is provided by the Act. Rather the civil 

penalty, here sought, is remedial in nature as it seeks to prevent the violations 

complained of and like violations from being repeated. While the sum, when 

penal, is predetermined, the civil penalty, of a remedial nature, is fixed at an 

amount which is dependent on attendant circumstances and adequate to achieve 

--future compliance with the regulations previously violated. 

Pleadings 

A Motion to Dismiss this case was filed by -Respondent earlier in the 

proceeding complaining, particularly, that the Complaint failed to include a 

statement indica ting the appropriateness Qf the penalties therein proposed. On 

denying the Mot ion , I found that each of the Complaints included a statement 

giving adequate notice of charges against Respondent, including a statement of 

the factors consi dered in determining the proposed penalty, which factors are 

those expressly provi ded in the Act, Section 16(a)(2)(8), 15 U.S.C. 2615(a)(2)(8). 

In administrative proceedings the pleadings are required only to serv~ notice of 

the nature of the charges sufficient to enabl e the Respondent to prepare his 

defense. The question is not the adequacy of pleading, but the fairness of the 

whole procedure. In administrative proceedings , adjudication may be based on 

facts arising subsequent, as well as prior, to the filing of the Complaint 

[see Curtis Wright Corporation v NLRB , 347 F.2d 61 , 73 (16), (1965)]. 

Professor Davis states , 1 Davis , Section 8.04, page 523> 

"The most important characteristic of pleadings in the 
adminis trative process is their unimportance . " 

lie further states that a theor:' of pleading based on common law thinking has no 
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place in admi nis trative proceedings, citing Sisia v Flemi ng, 183 F.S. 194, 

201, which holds that pleadings do not· limit the proof and that the decision 

should be based on evidence in the record. [See also Akers Motor Lines , Inc • • 

~ (1968}, 286 F.S. 213,225 (11)]. In ilLRB v Johnson, 322 F.2d, 216,220 

(5) (1963) the holding t•Jrned on whether the issue was fully litigated. The 

court stated "if so, the Respondent can't be heard to complain of lack of 

opportunity to meet the charges against it even though the Complaint be found 

lacking for a Complain t may be amended to conform to proof adduced on the 

hearing". In NLRB v Mackey Supply Company, 304 U.S., l.c. 350, 58 S.Ct., l.c. 

912-13, the Court stated: 

"While Respondent was entitled to know the basis of 
the Complaint against it, and to explain its conduct 
in an effort to meet that complaint, we find from the 
record that it understood the 1 ssue and was afforded 
full opportunity to justify (i ts action)." 

conclude that the record in the instant case supports such a finding 

and reject Respondent's objections to findings proposed by Complainant and 

amp ly supported by the record. 

With respect to Complaint -003 (Milwaukee}, the above authorities are 

pertinent. Complainant's offered amendment to said Complaint was refused 

because it was offered at a prehearing conference requested by the parties 

on February 21, 1980, only 19 days prior to the Hearing on March 11, 1980. 

then found that to permit the amendment at a time so close to the date of 

Hearing, where i t conceivably opened a broad additional area of inquiry, in a 

case whose complexities were already apparent, would saddle Respondent with an 

unfair burden. Without regard to the adequacy of the pleading the essential 

requirement of timeliness was lacking. I here conclude that refusal of said 

amendmen t was proper. 

Intention 

The Respondent further pleaded as an affirmative defense that any 

violations were inadvertent and temporary, and the result of oversight by its 
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employees. I consider this as a claim that the violation was not intentional. 

Referring again to the Act , Sect~on 16(a) , it will be noted that intention is 

not an element of the violation. (U.S. v Dotterweich, supra; U.S. v Balint , 

et al, supra; and U.S. v Shapiro (19 74 ) 491 F .2d 335). The words "wilfully" 

and "knowingly" which appear in Section 16(b) (Cri minal Penalties) are absent 

from t he provisions for civil penalties in Section 16(a). Whereas intention is 

not an element of the violation to be proved , intention or t he lack tnereof 

can and should be considered in determining the gravity of the violation , from 

the aspect of the conduct of the respondent . (Pem Kot e Paint Co. , J. D. No . 

88455, EPA Region IV , 11arch 3,.6 . 1974.) Respondent also points out tnat i t has 

a nistory of compli ance with environmental laws and no history of past viola

tions or charges of such except ing one citation fo r which it voluntarily paid 

a penalty of $225, after pleading "no contest". Also it states tna t it has 

cooperated in correcting the vio lations alleged in the Complaint. This aspect 

is commendable and such facts , when shown by the record , are appropriately 

and favorably considered in determin i ng the appropr iate penal ty to be assessed 

as provided in the Act, Section 16(a)(2)(B). Such facts are not defens ive for 

the reasons hereinbefore stated. Also to be considered in f ixing t he penalty 

wou ld be the further affirmative pleading of Respondent where it states that 

it compl ied with TSCA requirements , fol lowing the EPA inspect ion in April 1g79, 

by preparing and implementing a PCB compliance progr am for al l of its facilities. 

Constitutional Objection 

I find that Responden t 's pleading denominated as its fourth defense , 

raising constitutional issues , was properly stricken at the prehear ing con

ference. 
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CIVIL PENALTY 

Section 16(a) of the Act provides that a civil penalty si1all be 

assessed against any person who violates Section 1521(PROHIBITED.ACTS); that 

the violator shall be liable in in amount not to exceeu ~25,0JO for each such 

violation; and that each day such violation continues shall constitute a 

separate violation. 

Section 16(a)(Z)(B) provides that, in determining the amount of a 

civil penalty, the following,facts shall be taken into account: 

(1) the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of each such 

violation; and 

(2) with respect to the violator 

(a) ab i 1 i ty to pay; 
/ 

(b) effect on ability to continue in business; 

(c) any history of prior such violations; 

(d) the degree of culpability; and 

(c) such other matters as justice may require. 

Three different complaints filed against Respondent were consolidated 

for hearing, at Respondent's request. Each complaint pertained to a different 

situs of operation. We have referred herein to said separate operations, 

respectively,as Wauwatosa (001) , West Allis (002), and Milwaukee (003). 

II. Wauwatosa 

The nature, circumstances and the extent of the violations by Respondent 

are detailed by the statements contained in my Findings .~umbers 4 through 33, 

supra, page 7 through 11. 

11 The texts of the pertinent parts of the Sections, here referred to, are 
more fully set forth, supra, page 3, of this decision. 
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I! I. 

The gravity of such violations is considered in light of the regulatory 

purpose pronounced by the Act and the Regulations promulgated pursuant to the 

Act. 43 FR 7150 states, in pertinent part, under "SullYllary": 

" ... The intent of these regulations(prescribing 
disposal and marking requirement for PCBs) is to 
protect the environment from further contamination 
by PCBs resulting from improper handling and 
disposal of PCBs." 

and, under "Definitions": 

"Disposal is defined very broadly to include any 
action that may be related to the ultimate dispo-
sition of (PCJ$ ... ). An accidental or intentional 
release of (PCBs ... ), including spills, is consid-
ered to be an act of disposal." 

IV. 

At t he time of the subject inspection in April 1979, at Wauwatosa, 

four capacitors had been placed in a drum, which was overturned and damaged 

after.being reportedly struck by a fork lift. The testimony and photographic 

exhibits evidence that PCB fluid from the ruptured capacitors had leaked into 

the drum, and as a result of the upset , had spilled onto the dock from the 

drum. A second drum, near the first, contained the other five capacitors (4 

McGraw and 1 small G.E.) which had ruptured while in service and had been so 

stored for disposal. 

v. 

In considering the toxicity of PCB's (most obvious from even the 

briefest inspection of the Act and regula t ions) the importance of compliance 

with the marking and disposal regulations and a general and well -organized 

program for compliance is readily apparent. 

V.J. 

The term "loading dock" (at Wauwatosa) suggests that , while 

not used by the general public , the area , even with a congestion of 
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equipment and materials, will be frequented by employees of Respondent. There 

was material, found to have PCB content in excess of 500 parts per million, on 

the floor in proximity of the overturned durm, which was so situated that 

tracking was possible and certainly conceivable- -more conceivable because of the 

fact that neither the items, container , nor area bore marking which complied 

with subject regulations and that the view of said floor area was obscured to 

some extent by equipment and materials on the dock. Tracking of the material 

would become more likely with the movement of items, all mobile , within the area. 

It is further apparent that the aforesaid hazard was enlarged by the 

condition of the storage area. Walls, roof and curbing, which were absent 

from the area, would have provided a means of foreclosing any possibility that 

rainwater would reach the affected area and in turn carry off PCBs. 

VIII. 

"Marking" is defined c;s the marking of PCBs, etc., by means of 

applying a legible mark . . . that meets the requirements of ••• regulation. From 

the evidence, exhibits and pleadings, I find that the following PCB articles 

(at Wauwatosa) were not properly marked: 

1. Seven PCB transformers , in service. 

2. Thirty-six high-voltage PCB capacitors , in service . 

3. Seven large high-voltage capacitors , removed from service . 

4. Two large low-voltage capacitors , removed from service . 

5. Several containers holding PCBs and PCB equipment, removed 

from service. 

Further , the area used to store PCBs and PCB articles for disposal 

were not marked. Respondent suggests that , even though their presence is 

fortuitous and not due to the efforts of Respondent or its employees , 

manufacturer's markings and cautionary labels should be considered "marking" 
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sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the regulations. It is obvious that 

there was no uniformity in design or appearance of said markings. To be 

adequate and effective, a "warning" should attract the attention, even of a 

less attenti ve person, and be readily recognizable for what it purports to 

be, and give notice of the hazard present . The situation presented is very 

analogous to legal "notice"- -if inao::qua~,:. ineffectwe, <:r unrecognizable, 

it is not a notice at all. 

IX . 

also find that Respondent failed to develop and maintain records as 

required by the Act and theY:egulations (See Finding No . 30, page lO,supra). 

Respondent was not without recorded data concerning most of the PCB 

articles but much information vital to the preparation of an annual document 

was lacking to the extent that an inventory was required to locate and identify 

certain PCB items. This violation , in and of itself , may appear trivial, but 

a multiplicity of such violations will obviously f rustrate the scheme of regu- . 

lation which is essential to the management and control of the existing great 

amount of PCBs and their hazard. (See Wickard v Filburn, 317 U.S . 111 , 63 S. 

Ct. 82). 

X. 

The Rules and Regulat ions prescri bing the di spo;al and marking 

requirements were published in the Federal Register February 17, 1978 (43 FR 

7150 et sec.) with an effective date of Apri l 18, 1978. In addition to such 

constructive notice , Respondent received a six-page letter from the Adminis 

trator of EPA Region V (Complainant's Exhibit 9) affording actual notice of 

the PCB marking and disposal regulations . Respondent's Executive Vice President 

(T 505), Mr. Socks, acknowledged said letter was received by. their Executive , 

Mr. Sheeley, who forwarded it to Mr. Socks who in turn forwarded it to Mr. 

Bernshine , t hen Respondent's Environmental Engineer. 
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1 have considered each of the ·factors prescribed in Section 

16{a){2)(B), more fully set forth in paragraph I. hereof, in conjunction with 

the facts as revealed by the record relevant to the violations by Respondent 

at Wauwatosa. 

As to the violation itself, the condition of the loading dock which 

occasioned the spill of PCB liquid from the drum containing PCB articles 

exemplifies the result of a failure to fully appreciate and act with respect 

to the dangerous toxicity of PCB and the hazards experienced by the careless 

handling of it. The consequences could have been, and conceivably are, much 

worse than shown by the record. Considering solely the nature of the violation, 

the fact that the record reveals no injuries that resulted from such handling, 

cannot completely dispel speculation that because of the chronic character of 

PCB, significant injury can or will be occasioned at some time in the future. 

Only in the consideration of possibilities hazarded by the violation can we 

adequately envision the hazard to man and the threat of further PCB contamina

tion to the environment--and only by this consideration can we fully perceive 

the gravity attendant. 

As to the gravity of Respondent's conduct , the loading dock was not 

frequented by great numbers of the general public, but traffic apparentlywas 

limited to employees. This circumstance serves to reduce the seriousness of an 

otherwise dangerous condition. I do not find Respondent's violation appreciably 

aggravated by prior such violations; however, the degree of culpability with 

respect t o its disregard of regulations governing the handling and di sposal of 

PCBs is considered significant. This is appreciably mitigated by its formation 

and execution of a compliance program subsequent to subject inspection. 

I find that an appropriate civil penalty to be assessed for 

Respondent's failure to properly store PCB articles for disposal, in 

violation of 40 CFR 761.10(c)(4) (lg78) and 40 CFR 761.42 , is • • $12,000.00 
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I find that Respondent's failure to properly mark PCB articles , 

PCB containers and area containing such articles and containers, in 

violation of 40 CFR 761.20 {1978) warrants the assessment of a civil 

penalty in the sum of .... $7,500.00 

I further find that Respondent's failure to adequately-develop 

and mai ntain records on the maintenance and disposition of PCBs, sufficient 

to form the basis for its annual document, in violation of 40 CFR 

761.45 {1978) , warrants the assessment of a civil penalty in the 

sum of 

.-XII. West Allis 

$2 ,000 ;~l.O 

A. I incorporate, as part of this paragraph XII of my Civjl ~nalty 

Discussion, pertinent parts of paragraphs I, III, V, VIII, IX and X. 

B. The nature, circumstances and extent of the violations by 

Respondent, at West Allis, {a foundry) are ,detailed by my Findings of Fact · .-

i~umbus 34 through 64, supra, pages 12 through 15. 

XI I I. 

At the time of the inspection on April 20, 1979, Respondent 

maintained an induction furnace which was not in service, and its Senior 

Electrician, Mr. Shawley, stated Respondent was going to "get rid of it". 

The manufacturer later agreed to take back the furnace, but the capacitors 

were not returned. Respondent's decision, apparently contingent on the 

settlement with the manufacturer was that the capacitors would be "cannibalized" 

and used on another furnace of similar design at Grey Iron Foundry (T 488). 

Prior to the April 1979 inspection, Respondent had no area (T 388) designed 

for storage of PCB items, which complied with 40 CFR 761.42 . I find that 

the induction furnace and capacitors were stored for disposal in a manner 

not in accordance with said regulation. 
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XIV. 

I find the followi ng PCB articles (at West Allis) were not properly 

marked at the time of the April 1979 inspection: 

1. One Allis Chalmers transformer (roof substation), in SFvic•·. 

2. Two Wagner transformers, in service. 

3. Seventy-five PCB capacitors, in service 

4. Twenty PCB capaci tors, removed from service. 

Further, the area in which was stored the induction furnace containing 

· the 20 PCB capacitors was not properly marked. 

find that Respondent failed to develop and maintain records (at 

West Allis) as required by the Act and the regulations (See Findings 63 and 

64) . I have hereinabove adopted , and made a part hereof , of my comments, 

in pertinent part , contained in paragraph IX, supra. 

On consideration of the facts evidenced in the record and t he 

factors set forth in paragraph I . hereof , I fi nd and recommend that the 

following civil penalties be assessed for the violations of Respondent at 

Mest Allis: 

For Respondent's failure to properly store PCB articles 

for disposa l, in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR 761.42, 

pursuant to 40 CFR 761 .1 0(c)(4) and 40 CFR 761.10(b)(5) . ••• 

For Respondent' s failure to properly mark PCB articles in 

service , PCB articles removed from service , and t he area containing 

said ar ticles removed from service ..• • . • • •.•• 

$5,000.00 

$5 ,000.00 
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For respondent's failure to adequately develop and maintain 

records on the maintenance and disposition of PCBs§V . . •..... $2,000.00 

XVII. Milwaukee 

I have concluded that no civil penalty should be assessed for 

failure to develop and maintain records at Milwaukee (see Conclusions of 

Law numbered 15 through 18, supra, page 23.) 

XVI I I. 

Section 16(a) of the Act provides that a civil penalty may be 

assessed . . . for each violatiofl ... and that each day the violation continues 

shall be considered a separate violation. A civil penalty as stated , supra , 

is characterized as remedial or regulatory and is assessed for the singular 

purpose of achieving compliance with the Act. The provisions that "each 

day a violation continues" shall be considered a separate violation is 

clearly intended as a means of discouraging recalcitrance by maki ng its 

practice uneconomical. Coffiplainant urges that said violations continued for 

some four to five months following the April 1979 inspection. 

As Dr. Simon (T 309) testified, Respondent is , without question, 

one of the largest industrial users of PCBs. Its operation is extensive 

including two foundries in Milwaukee in addition to a complex of plants , in 

~ I reject Responden t 's contention that the violati ons for fai l ure t o 
maintain and develop records at both Wauwatosa and Wes t Allis const itute 
but one assessable offense . The tes t to be applied in det ermining t he 
question is whether proof of facts are required to prove one violation 
which is not required to prove any other. If so , the vio lations are not 
identical. On this record, the violations concern two dis t inctly different 
operations- -different plants--different locations . Manifestly the violations 
were not identical. [See Ianell i v U.S. , 420 US 770 , l.c. 795 , 95 S.Ct. 
1284 , l .c. 1293 (6), 1975; ci ting Blockburger v U.S., 284 US 289 , 52 S.Ct. 
180 (1932). See also Tesconia v Hunter , 151 F.2d 589 (1945).) . 

Respondent characterizes the allegation of a vio lation of the record 
keeping requirement in each of the three cases , here considered, as an 
effort at "tripling" the proposed penalty. I t is no t only illogical , but 
contrary to the Act, to suggest that whether Respondent vio l ates the Act 
at one or at all six of its plants . the penalty to ba assessed shou l d be 
the same. 
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two states. at the various locations heretofore mentioned. Following the 

inspections in April 1979 . Respondent undertook (soon after the April 1979 

inspection) and completed the task (in September 1979) of programming. sampling. 

preparing storage areas. marking PCB articles. completing its inventory and 

updating its records sufficiently to prepare and submit its annual report . A 

re-inspecti~n revealed that the effort was thorough and done in a manner and 

to an extent sufficient to bring its operation substantially in compliance 

with the Act and the regulations. 

I find that Respondent's effort to achieve compliance was on-going. 

following the inspection. an~that no recalcitrance is evident. for which 

reason I do not find the assessment of such additional penalties warranted. 

On consideration of the facts in the record and the foregoing 

cone 1 us ions reached and in accordance with the cri ter:i a set forth in the 

Act. I recommend the adoption by the Administrator of the following 

PROPOSED FINAL ORDERS2f 

Case No. TSCA-V-C-001 

1. Pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Toxic Substances Control Act 

{15 U.S.C . 2615). a civil penalty in the total sum of $21.500.00 is hereby 

assessed against BRIGGS AND STRATTON CORPORATIO~. a Delaware Corporation, 

for violations of the Act found herein. 

2. Payment of the full amount of the civil penalty assessed shall 

be made, within 60 days of the service of the Final Order upon Respondent. 

by forwarding to the Regional Hearing Clerk a Cashier's or Certified Check 

payable to the United States of America. 

2f 40 CFR 22.27(c) provides that the instant Initial Decision shall become the 
Final Order of the Administrator within 45 days after its receipt by the 
Hearing Clerk and w\thout further proceedings unless (1) an appeal to the 
Administrator is taken from it by a party to the proceedings . or {2) the 
Administrator elects. sua sponte, to review the Initial Decision 
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Case No. TSCA-V-C-002 

l. Pursuant to Section 16(a)" of the Toxic Substances ContrOl Act 

(15 U.S.C. 2615), a civil penalty in the total sum of $12,000.00 is hereby 

assessed against BRIGGS AND STRATTON CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation, 

for violations of the Act found ~~in. 

2. Payment of the full amount of the civil penalty assessed shall 

be made, within 60 days of the service of the .Final Order upon Respondent , 

by forwarding to the Regional Hear ing Cl erk a Cashier ' s or Cert i f ied Check 

payable to the United States of America. 

--Case No. TSCA-V-C-003 

1. No civil penalty shall be assessed against the Respondent herein. 

ALJ 
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Case No. TSCA-V-C-002 

1. Pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Toxic Substances Control Act 

(15 U.S.C. 2615), a civil penalty in the total sum of $12 ,000.00 is hereby 

assessed against BRIGGS AND STRATTON CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation , 

for violations of the Act found ~ein. 

2. Payment of the full amount of the civi l penalty assessed shall 

be made, within 60 days of the serv i ce of the Final Order upon Respondent , 

by forwarding to the Regional Heari ng Clerk a Cashier's or Certified Check 

payable to the United States of America. 

Case No. TSCA-V-C-003 

1. No civil penalty shall be assessed against the Respondent herein. 

ALJ 


